
AGENDA

Committee Administrator:     Democratic Services Officer  (01609 767015)

Wednesday, 4 January 2017

Dear Councillor

NOTICE OF MEETING

Meeting SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Date Thursday, 12 January 2017

Time 9.30 am

Venue Main Committee Room, Civic Centre, Stone Cross, Northallerton, DL6 2UU

Yours sincerely

J. Ives.
Dr Justin Ives
Chief Executive

To: Councillors Councillors
S P Dickins (Chairman)
Mrs C S Cookman (Vice-Chairman)
M A Barningham
G W Ellis
C A Dickinson
R W Hudson

D Hugill
Ms C Palmer
Mrs I Sanderson
A Wake
D A Webster

Other Members of the Council for information 

Public Document Pack



AGENDA

Page No

1. MINUTES 

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 17 November (SC.21 - SC.25), 
previously circulated.

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

3. POLICY REVIEW - CIVIL PARKING ENFORCEMENT 1 - 8

Report of the Chairman

4. POLICY REVIEW - HEALTH AND SAFETY 9 - 18

Report of the Chairman

5. MATTERS OF URGENCY 

Any other business of which not less than 24 hours’ prior notice, preferably in 
writing, has been given to the Chief Executive and which the Chairman decides 
is urgent.



HAMBLETON DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report To: Scrutiny Committee
12 January 2017

From: Chairman of Scrutiny Committee

Subject: POLICY REVIEW – CIVIL PARKING ENFORCEMENT
All Wards

1.0 SUMMARY:

1.1 The purpose of this report is to gather additional information from appropriate individuals in 
order to progress the Review and to review the evidence recorded to date and consider 
whether any further information is required before determining whether to conclude the 
Review.

2.0 BACKGROUND:

2.1 The Committee has previously agreed to undertake this Review and identified information 
and issues that it would like to consider. The Project Plan for the review is attached as 
Annex A.

2.2 The Terms of Reference of the review are as follows:

To investigate whether the current arrangements for enforcement of Civil Parking are 
effective;  whether there are any existing issues with delivery of the service and consider 
options for the future delivery of the service.

2.3 The Committee considered the memorandum of evidence at its meeting held on 
17 November 2016 and identified some further questions it would like to address before 
concluding the review.  The Committee requested that the Director of Economy and 
Planning be invited to attend the next meeting of the Committee to assist with this process. 

2.4 A summary of the key points highlighted from the evidence gathered to date is attached at 
Annex B to the report along with a full memorandum of evidence at Annex C.

3.0 RECOMMENDATION:

3.1 The Committee is asked to determine whether any further information is required to assist 
with the Policy Review or whether conclusions can be formulated to enable the draft report 
to be prepared.

COUNCILLOR STEPHEN DICKINS

Background papers: None
Author ref: LAH
Contact: Louise Hancock

Democratic Services Officer
Direct Line No: (01609) 767015

120117 Civil Parking Enforcement.doc

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Annex A

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

POLICY REVIEW – CIVIL PARKING ENFORCEMENT

TERMS OF REFERENCE:

To investigate whether the current arrangements for enforcement of Civil Parking are effective;  
whether there are any existing issues with delivery of the service and consider options for the 
future delivery of the service

SCOPE

 To ascertain what the current arrangements are for delivery of the service
 To examine whether the existing delivery of the service is effective
 To identify whether there are any issues which may require further investigation
 To explore options of future delivery

OBJECTIVES

 To determine whether the existing arrangements for enforcement of Civil Parking legislation 
are effective and value for money

 To identify any issues arising out of the delivery of the service and explore areas for 
improvement

 To ascertain future options for future delivery of enforcement to be considered

WITNESSES

 Executive Director, Dave Goodwin
 Head of Service – Customer and Economy – Helen Kemp
 Appropriate representative from Scarborough Borough Council

Page 2



DOCUMENTS/EVIDENCE

 Civil Parking Enforcement Agreement
 Statistics on numbers of notices served; appeals; bailiff stats
 Benchmarking information from other Authorities

OTHER METHODS/CONSULTATION/RESEARCH

Task and Finish Groups.

OFFICER SUPPORT

Louise Hancock, Democratic Services Officer
Gary Nelson, Head of Service – Legal and Information (Monitoring Officer)

TIMESCALE

Commencing September 2016 
Projected completion January 2017
Report to Cabinet February 2017

Page 3



Annex B
Key Points From Evidence

The following is a summary of the key points highlighted from the evidence received:

 It was recognised that the officers carrying out enforcement and issuing PCNs were carrying 
out their duties and that if the policies of the car parks were adhered to there would be less 
enforcement.

 Feedback was an area identified for possible improvement as this was considered to be 
weak.

 Options for future delivery would be considered at the appropriate time and could possibly 
include consideration of bringing the service back in-house.

 It was accepted that the current arrangements for Civil Parking Enforcement were adequate 
and presently fit for purpose.

Page 4



Annex C
Memorandum of Evidence

The Committee took evidence from Dave Goodwin, Executive Director, Hambleton District Council 
and received a presentation, a copy of which had previously been circulated and was available as 
part of the Committee’s records.

The presentation covered the following areas:

 History/Context of Civil Parking Enforcement (CPE)
 Partnership arrangements
 Statistics – Penalty Charge Notices
 Car Park Usage
 Future Options

The Committee was provided with an explanation on the background to CPE and was advised that 
historically the police used to issue car parking notices for highway contraventions and the District 
Council employed officers to do ‘off road’ enforcement, such as in the car parks.

In 2002 Harrogate moved to CPE because the Government wanted the polices’ time spent on 
other priorities.  Then the Government wanted all authorities to move to this system.  HDC entered 
into a partnership agreement in May 2013 and the agreement would run for a period of 5 years.  If 
the Council wished to change the arrangement or withdraw from the partnership, a period of notice 
would be required of 6 months.  If was suggested that if this were to be an option that the Council 
wished to explore, it would be worth considering having a new system in place and up and running 
prior to the existing arrangement ceasing.

The Committee was advised that as part of the partnership, there was a 5 year agreement and 
income was protected.  The District Council received a £14k subsidy each year because the 
Council had agreed to issue penalty charge notices at a lower rate than the previous system – 
hence why income was down.

The Committee was provided with information on statistics on benchmarking.   When the figures 
were examined, it appeared that the District Council issued more notices but this could be 
interpreted in several ways.  It could be that more people were breaking the rules and getting 
caught.  An example was that in 2015/16 HDC issued 2000 PCNs, there were 410 issued in 
Richmondshire and 780 in Ryedale.  Out of the 2000 HDC issued, 1700 were paid straightaway 
and 300 were challenged.

The Committee asked if officers were implementing a tougher regime in Hambleton rather than in 
Scarborough or Ryedale and whether a higher amount of parking contravention notices (PCN’s) 
may be challenged because more people were unhappy.  The Committee also wished to know 
whether the same staff worked in Hambleton as in other areas.

The Committee was advised that it could also be because of the number of car parking spaces.  
The staff worked on different rotas so that they did not regularly visit the same areas on the same 
days and times so that their visits could not be predicted by those using the car parking spaces.

The Committee commented that it would be interesting to identify of the PCNs issued, how many 
were residents and how many were visitors.

Page 5



The Committee was informed that the finances showed that the District Council was making a 
surplus but the expenditure in terms of costs with undertaking CPE covered staff, equipment, etc 
and it did not cover the cost of maintaining the car parks, this was an entirely separate issue.

The Committee gave consideration to future options and suggested that bringing the function back 
in-house may be an option worth considering at the appropriate time.  The Committee was advised 
that effectively this would mean going back to the old regime.  This may not be in-line with the 
Government’s initiative.

The Committee sought clarification as to who was the enforcing authority and was advised that this 
was Scarborough Borough Council as there was a single regime across North Yorkshire.

The Committee asked whether HDC could take on on-street parking which was currently policed 
by North Yorkshire County Council Highways and was advised that this was all part of the same 
Partnership regime and therefore subject to the same timescale regarding renewing the 
agreement.

The Committee enquired whether the days that enforcement was applicable, ie Sundays and Bank 
Holidays, could be altered or was this something that had to be agreed by the Partnership and was 
advised that this was a partnership approach but this could be altered including Sundays and Bank 
Holidays.  HDC could make changes to when enforcement took place.

The Committee took evidence from Clive Thornton, Corporate Facilities Manager, HDC

The Benchmarking data on Civil Parking Enforcement (CPE) statistics had been circulated to the 
Committee prior to the meeting.  A copy of this document was available as part of the Committee’s 
records.

The Committee was advised that in the year 2015/16, benchmarking data indicated that Hambleton 
District Council had a good percentage of Penalty Charge Notices (PNC’s) paid (86%) with fewer 
being cancelled (11%).  This compared quite well with other Authorities.

The Committee noted that the statistics would indicate that there had been an increase in the 
number of PCN’s issued and enquired as to what could be the reason for this.  The Committee was 
advised that when Scarborough took over the service numbers increased, this could be because 
there was more consistency with enforcement.  The more patrols there were the more PCNs would 
be issued if there were breaches.  There was a consistent level of resources providing cover.

The Committee wished to know how Scarborough advertised and recruited their officers and how 
many were in the District.  The Committee was advised that HDC had set out the service based on 
43 hours a week of enforcement time.  There were three full-time officers and resources were 
shared with NYCC but HDC received 43 hours of time a week.  The District Council also supported 
Scarborough when interviewing for the posts.

The Committee was informed that HDC was a member of PATROL which was the Parking 
Adjudication Joint Committee and was made up of all Councils outside London operating Civil 
Parking Enforcement.  It oversaw the operation of adjudication appeals against parking tickets.  
The Council had one Member on the Committee appointed at the annual meeting and this was 
Councillor Knapton.  Councillor Knapton attended meetings and provided feedback.

The Committee enquired about Disabled parking  and was advised that charges for disabled bays 
were applied in accordance with the policy for whichever car park the user was in and disabled 
bays were subject to Civil Parking Enforcement.  Blue badge holders must comply with the 
requirements of the parking policy which was displayed on information boards and parking bays in 
the car parks.

Page 6



The Committee commented that the rules for disabled bays could be quite complicated and wished 
to know how users were informed about the rules and was advised that all the information was on 
the signage in the car parks.

The Committee asked whether the current signage was adequate and whether there was a 
national standard.  The Committee was advised that for off street parking it just had to be 
reasonable and for on street parking there was guidance which provided information on how signs 
should be laid out but they had to be distinctly different so that they could not be confused.  If there 
were any deficiencies with the signage brought to our attention we would respond to it.  Users 
should make themselves aware of the requirements and provided they comply, there would be no 
requirement for enforcement.

The Committee wished to know, in relation to HGV Parking, did overnight parking come under 
enforcement and was advised that the only provision for HGV parking was in the Applegarth Long 
Stay car park and users were subject to the policy of that car park.  Provided users complied with 
the policy there would be no requirement for enforcement.  If there were any breaches of HGV 
drivers using other car parks that they were not permitted to use, enforcement action would be 
used if necessary.

The Committee asked if the number of spaces that would be provided at the Bedale Car Park been 
taken into account in the number of hours of enforcement and was advised that the proposals for 
Bedale were included within the regime and adequate resources would be provided to cover it.

The Committee enquired whether there was any feedback of any parking notices, compliments, 
complaints and was advised that  there was no specific information collated although feedback was 
received from Scarborough.  This was an area where the link had been lost directly with the car 
park users.  HDC did review and respond when feedback was received and regular meetings are 
held with Scarborough about performance.

The Committee asked if the wording of a PCN was standard and was advised that, yes, this should 
be compliant with the Traffic Management Act 2004 which set out what needed to be included, 
such as vehicle registration, time of contravention, etc.

The Committee enquired whether the taking of pictures was a legal requirement and was advised 
that every PCN has a photograph accompanying it and this could be used as evidence.

The Committee noted that statistically, in 2015/16 more PCN’s were successfully challenged and 
enquired as to the possible reason why.  The Committee was advised that the reasons for 
cancellation varied and there was a process to go through and if you could provide a valid ticket 
the PCN may be cancelled.  Each case had to be considered depending on individual 
circumstances.

The Committee asked whether the District Council were being too lenient and was advised that if 
HDC refused an appeal, it could go to arbitration and they might allow the challenge.  
Approximately 50% of cases were accepted when they went to arbitration.

The Committee wished to ascertain whether rebate would continue and was advised that this 
would not continue beyond the 5 year agreement. 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



HAMBLETON DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report To: Scrutiny Committee
12 January 2017

From: Chairman of Scrutiny Committee

Subject: POLICY REVIEW – HEALTH AND SAFETY
All Wards

1.0 SUMMARY:

1.1 The purpose of this report is to review the evidence recorded to date and consider whether 
any further information is required before determining whether to conclude the Review.

2.0 BACKGROUND:

2.1 The Committee has previously agreed to undertake this Review and identified information 
and issues that it would like to consider. The Project Plan for the review is attached as 
Annex A.

2.2 The Terms of Reference of the review are as follows:

To consider whether the existing plans, policies and working arrangements for Health and 
Safety Management within the Council are effective and to ensure that the Council’s Health 
and Safety procedures meets or exceed the legal requirements.

2.3 A summary of the key points highlighted from the evidence is attached at Annex B to the 
report along with a full memorandum of evidence at Annex C.

3.0 RECOMMENDATION:

3.1 The Committee is asked to determine whether any further information is required to assist 
with the Policy Review or whether conclusions can be formulated to enable the draft report 
to be prepared.

COUNCILLOR STEPHEN DICKINS

Background papers: None
Author ref: LAH
Contact: Louise Hancock

Democratic Services Officer
Direct Line No: (01609) 767015

120117 Health and Safety.doc

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

POLICY REVIEW – HEALTH AND SAFETY MANAGEMENT

TERMS OF REFERENCE:

To consider whether the existing plans, policies and working arrangements for Health and Safety 
Management within the Council are effective and to ensure that the Council’s Health and Safety 
procedures meets or exceed the legal requirements

SCOPE

 To review the existing arrangements for Health and Safety Management, including the 
secondment arrangement with NYCC

 To review the Corporate Health and Safety Plan for 2016-2017
 To review the Health and Safety Policy 2016
 To consider performance on the key improvement priorities for 2016-2017
 To consider how the Corporate Policy and Plan is being implemented in the key risk areas for 

Health and Safety in the Council

OBJECTIVES

 To investigate whether the existing arrangements for Health and Safety Management are 
effective and fit for purpose

 To ascertain whether any significant Health and Safety issues remain unresolved and to 
consider a way forward to resolving these issues

 To review the Corporate Health and Safety Policy and Health and Safety Plan for 2016-17 
taking into consideration any outstanding issues that remain unresolved

 To review existing arrangements for Health and Safety Management and consider whether 
these are effective

WITNESSES

 Chief Executive, Dr Justin Ives
 Executive Director, Mick Jewitt
 Dominic Passman, Health and Safety Risk Manager
 Head of Service – Environment, Paul Staines
 Head of Service – Leisure and Communities, Steve Lister

Page 10



DOCUMENTS/EVIDENCE

 Health and Safety Policy 2016
 Health and Safety Plan for 2016/17
 Progress reports on the implementation of the Health and Safety Plans
 WASS Health and Safety Plan 2016/17
 Leisure and Communities Health and Safety Plan 2016/17

OTHER METHODS/CONSULTATION/RESEARCH

Task and Finish Groups.

OFFICER SUPPORT

Louise Hancock, Democratic Services Officer
Gary Nelson, Head of Service – Legal and Information (Monitoring Officer)

TIMESCALE

Commencing September 2016 
Projected completion January 2017
Report to Cabinet February 2017

Page 11



Annex B
Key Points From Evidence

The following is a summary of the key points highlighted from the evidence received:

 It was acknowledged that there was a comprehensive corporate Health and Safety Plan in 
place and arrangements for monitoring and review through regular meetings of the Health 
and Safety Group.

 It was recognised that there were very detailed service specific Health and Safety plans in 
place which were regularly monitored and reviewed.

 The agreement with NYCC ensured that the District Council had competent Health and 
Safety advice for the Council.

 Feedback to Members on the progress of service specific Health and Safety Plans was an 
area identified for possible improvement as this was not currently provided to Scrutiny 
Committee.

Page 12



Annex C

Memorandum of Evidence

The Committee took evidence from Mick Jewitt, Executive Director and Dominic Passman, Health 
and Safety Risk Manager, NYCC

Mick Jewitt explained in detail the following documents:-

 Health and Safety Policy
 Hambleton District Council Corporate Health and Safety Plan 2016 – 2017
 Waste and Street Scene Health and Safety Action Plan 2016 – 2017
 Leisure and Communities Health and Safety Action Plan 2016 – 2017

Mick reported that the Health and Safety Policy was reviewed on an annual basis and that it had 
recently been reviewed and had taken into consideration recent management changes.

He also reported that Scrutiny Committee received quarterly monitoring reports on Health and 
Safety performance.

As Executive Director, Mick was also appointed as the ‘Health and Safety Director’ to ensure that 
health and safety risk management issues were properly addressed by Senior Management Team 
and more widely in the District Council.  The role included maintaining an adequately resourced 
Health and Safety Risk Management Service and also Chairing the Health and Safety Group.

Mick highlighted several areas within the HDC Health and Safety Policy, specifically the 
responsibilities of Executive Directors, Heads of Service, Managers, Employees and Elected 
Members.

The Corporate Health and Safety Plan was reviewed annually and monitored at the Health and 
Safety Group.  Actions arising were cascaded down into the individual service areas.  Milestones 
within the Plan would be updated as they progressed or had been completed.

In relation to the Secondment Agreement with North Yorkshire County Council, Mick reported that 
the Secondment Agreement had just been signed for a further 3 years from 1 September 2016 
until 31 August 2019.  The agreement with NYCC ensured that the District Council had competent 
Health and Safety advice for the Council.  The employees of North Yorkshire County Council were 
under Mick’s management when at the District Council.  Under the agreement, the District Council 
receives 3 days per week.  NYCC pays their employees’ salaries however the District Council pays 
a contribution for 2 officers which equates to £36k per year.  This was only a marginal increase on 
the sum paid under the previous agreement.
 
Both the Waste and Street Scene and Leisure and Communities Health and Safety Action Plans 
apply the Corporate Policy and Plan within their services.

The Committee enquired as to what were the main differences between the new plans and the old 
plans and was advised they had been built on the previous system which the Health and Safety 
Risk Manager at NYCC had helped to develop.  The plans have been improved and updated to 
reflect best practices and changes in the organisation.

The Committee ask if they were working ok was advised that yes they were.  If we looked back 3 
years ago when the Council had their own Health and Safety Officer, the level of service was 
patchy and not as good as it should have been.  The Council had had a visit by the Health and 

Page 13



Safety Executive within the Waste and Street Scene, particularly the Depot, and several 
Improvement Notices were issued.  The response to that and the feedback received highlighted 
that the internal service was lacking and we were not getting sufficient support.  The arrangement 
was terminated and the District Council brought in new arrangements which had resulted in 
significant improvements.

The Committee wished to know whether those issues that were outstanding 3 years ago had been 
resolved and was advised that yes they had been resolved.  There had been an inspection over 3 
days with 3 Inspectors and there was going to be a follow-up visit on 4 October for 1 day by 1 
inspector and this would highlight the extent to which we had improved.  All the matters identified in 
the Improvement Notices had been addressed.

The Committee asked for details on those issues from 3 years ago and was advised that there 
were issues around personal and protective equipment which had been dealt with; asbestos and 
fly tipping which had also been dealt with and there was also more general criticism following the 
visit about access to advice and specialisms within the authority which had been addressed 
through the arrangement with NYCC.

The Committee enquired as to whether there was anything in place for mental health issues and 
was advised that there were arrangements through HR who have separate procedures.  However, 
in Waste and Street Scene there were issues around sickness levels generally which was included 
within the plan and was subsequently monitored.

The Committee observed that the WASS was very comprehensive but the Leisure Plan seemed a 
little sparse asked as to why this was and was advised that this was not a reflection on how well 
they do Health and Safety, this reflected the different services and that they had different starting 
positions.  The Corporate priorities were set out in each plan for each year.

The Committee asked who dealt with asbestos in the Leisure Centres and was informed that an 
asbestos review had been undertaken which had resulted in a detailed report and action plan 
which had been implemented.  Ultimately, health and safety was the responsibility of the Chief 
Executive, other officers such as Mick Jewitt, Design and Maintenance with support by Health and 
Safety.  At property level there were nominated persons such as duty officers.

Very recent work had been undertaken and there was an action plan going to be presented to 
Management Team on Monday, 5 September which would then go to the Corporate Group on 
Tuesday, 6 September, and then be cascaded down.

The Committee wished to know what obligation did elected Members/officers have to wear 
personal protective equipment and was advised that the Corporate Health and Safety Policy set 
this out in detail.

The Committee also asked what pressure could be brought to bear to wear PPE and was advised 
that the policy was very strictly adhered to and that there had been dismissals, not necessary 
because of PPE, but for not following health and safety policies.

The Committee commented that, in respect of the Planning Committee, PPE had been issued 
many years ago but not so recently and that perhaps this needed refreshing.  The Committee was 
advised that if you are issued PPE you are required to wear it, the responsibility comes back to the 
individual.  There are pockets of good practice but perhaps there were areas that needed to be 
brought up to standard.

The Committee observed that the WASS staff shortages was not a good enough excuse or reason 
for why something had not been actioned and it was agreed that where health and safety actions 

Page 14



had been identified they would be dealt with.  Any specific issues from the WASS Plan would be 
raised with Paul Staines when he attended to give evidence.

The Committee asked whether it would be possible to have a concise email or communication to 
Members that highlighted the different issues reflected in previous years and was advised that this 
was something that could be explored.

The Committee enquired yow was the Hambleton Forum covered and was advised that, as the 
District Council lease this out, the tenants had responsibility and this would be set out in the 
tenancy agreement.  As a landlord, the District Council only have responsibility for certain issues.

The Committee asked whether the District Council connected with other authorities and was 
advised that as NYCC was a shared service they provided their services to other authorities.  
Leisure had been under external scrutiny for a long time and there was a regional group ‘WISH’.  
Best practice was also shared amongst different authorities to learn from others and adopt best 
practice.

The Committee took evidence from Paul Staines, Head of Service – Environment and 
Peter Marshall, Health and Safety Risk Manager, NYCC

Paul Staines provided an update on the issues that had been raised by the Health and Safety 
Executive previously which had resulted in enforcement notices being issued.  Namely the 
personal and protective equipment; asbestos and fly tipping  and pedestrian vehicle signage within 
the depot.  

Paul reported that Asbestos removal was now outsourced to specialist contractors and noise 
generated from kerbside collection vehicles had been reduced.  Health and safety was at the core 
of the Waste and Recycling Strategy and included actions such as reducing manual handling, etc.  
Reversing operations and the use of a reversing assistance had been improved however there had 
been 6 staff dismissals because of infringements.

Other improvements had also been made on welfare facilities; vehicle checks and benchmarking 
and that support had also improved because the District Council now had a dedicated Health and 
Safety Risk Manager monitoring the Waste and Street Scene Health and Safety Action Plan.

Paul was pleased to report that the Health and Safety Executive had visited the Depot on 
12 October and did not raise any recommendations for improvement.  This had been attributed to 
the hard work and commitment of the officers in the Depot who had gone above and beyond to 
ensure that all the necessary changes had been implemented.  Work was continuing in looking at 
the culture and behavioural changes in the workplace and that there were still improvements that 
could be made. 

Peter reported that one of the problems that staff encounter whilst on their rounds is the actions of 
the public such as overtaking the lorries onto incoming traffic.  Risk assessments on routes were 
being carried out and there was an opportunity to redesign routes and stop reversing on routes to 
help eradicate some of these hazards.  There was also the potential to move towards a mapping 
system which would help with the mapping of the rounds.

Paul also reported that, apart from having a dedicated resource for Health and Safety, one of the 
duties of one of the Managers at the Depot was specifically Health and Safety Management and 
staff training.

Page 15



Paul attended regular meetings which were held every 6 weeks and also a quarterly corporate 
meeting which was chaired by the Executive Director, Mick Jewitt.  The action plan was regularly 
monitored and updated at these meetings to ensure that actions were being implemented.

The Committee commented that it was good to hear that the report from the HSE did not raise any 
issues, this was excellent news.  The Committee asked whether CCTV was used and if so, how 
useful was it in identifying any wayward practices.  The Committee was informed that there was a 
new 360° system installed in the vehicles which did record when activated.  It could be used to 
review evidence in disciplinary cases.  It also helped employees with good practice and claims for 
damage could be reviewed.  When carrying out the procurement exercise, the District Council did 
not consider anybody who did not provide CCTV.

The Committee took evidence from Steve Lister, Head of Service – Leisure and Environment and 
Dominic Passman, Health and Safety Risk Manager, NYCC

Steve presented the Leisure and Communities Health and Safety Action Plan to the Committee 
and circulated additional documentation on Managing Health and Safety at Hambleton’s Leisure 
Centres and an updated Health and Safety Quarterly report which had just been approved at the 
quarterly meeting.  Steve reiterated to the Committee how important Health and Safety was in the 
Leisure Centres and that the approach to Health and Safety was based on policy and enshrined in 
all practices that are undertaken.

The document Managing Health and Safety at Hambleton Leisure Centres was based around a 
number of stages: policy; planning; risk profiling; organising; implementing your plan; measuring 
performance; investigating accidents/incidents/near misses; reviewing performance and learning 
lessons.  Steve outlined each stage which was based on the ‘Plan, Do Check, Act Cycle’.  

Policy: is implemented in the Leisure Centres after it has been approved – enshrined in all 
practices undertaken.

Planning: various arrangements in place, ie documents and procedures, actions plans, etc.  Some 
are corporate based others are service based, eg waterslides.  Some procedures are determined 
for us such as the leisure attendants and lifeguards – lifeguards have to be qualified and adhere to 
the Royal Life Saving Society Standards.  We have to ensure there are the appropriate number of 
lifeguards in appropriate locations to ensure they are in the right place at the right time.

Risk Profiling: this is about management being clear on risks and providing a suite of risk 
assessments, both corporate and service specific ones to ensure they are right, suitable and 
sufficient.

Organising: controls, communications, co-operation and competence – eg lifeguards have to 
undertake a full week’s worth of training and continue with personal development at least 3/4 hours 
a month – this policy links straight into the disciplinary procedure – it is very strict.

Implementing your plan: steps you take to ensure your plan is implemented effectively.

Measuring performance: there are two main ways to measure performance – actively and 
reactively.  Actively includes pre-open checks, pre-closure inspection and specialists to audit our 
sites which is a very lengthy exercise for each site and a very thorough approach.  We have quest 
assessments at all centres.  The key focus is on health and safety.  We have to check certificates, 
mystery visits are undertaken to check practices – a recent check at Bedale scored 100%.

Investigating accidents/incidents/near misses: approach to investigation when necessary includes 
the Health and Safety Risk Manager and others.  We have external assistance, eg when dealing 

Page 16



with near misses they get logged and investigated why the incident happened – we learn lessons 
and avoid in the future.

Reviewing performance and Learning lessons: quarterly reports are submitted to the Corporate 
Health and Safety Team as well as to staff in the centres.  Learning lessons is the most difficult as 
hard lessons may to be learnt because of individual circumstances.

The Health and Safety Action Plan determined improvements that the Council would like to see 
happen over the year.  This originated from the Corporate Action Plan.

Benchmarking involved staff and there were various mechanisms for this to happen such as the 
quest system and also site visits by staff to other centres to look at different standards and 
operating procedures.

The Committee asked how were risks prioritised in the action plan and how were the conclusions 
reached and was advised that profiling risks never went away.  You had to make sure the best 
practices were in place and continuing to learn was always at the top.  Risks for equipment may be 
less priority and some risks may come from the quest assessments or new legislation.  At the 
quarterly meetings new risks may be identified or the existing priorities were revised.

The Committee asked whether there was an end point and was advised that risk assessment was 
ongoing and was always going to be.   We have an ambitious plan and may achieve 75% of these.  
It may be too ambitious but we also have to make sure we deal with the low scoring ones.

The Committee asked whether as a result of staff turnover, were new staff a big health and safety 
risk and was it possible to perhaps look at how to retain staff that had already been invested in.  
The Committee was advised that the District Council would like to retain staff but, as the profile of 
staff was quite young, they may not be sure what it was exactly they would want to do as a career 
and may move on into different areas.  We had to be realistic.

The Committee asked whether the quarterly reports that were considered by the Health and Safety 
Group included progress on previous data as this would be useful to be included so that 
progression could be monitored.  The Committee was informed that the Corporate Health and 
Safety team had this information however service specific reports were not provided to Scrutiny.  
The question of how to keep Members informed needed to be reviewed corporately.

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Policy Review - Civil Parking Enforcement
	4 Policy Review - Health and Safety

